
 

 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Samantha Lawton 
 
Governance and Commissioning 
 

PO Box 1720 
 

Huddersfield 
 

HD1 9EL 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Jodie Harris 
 

Email: jodie.harris@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Tuesday 2 September 2025 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Cabinet Committee - Local Issues 
 

The Cabinet Committee - Local Issues will meet in the Council Chamber - 
Town Hall, Huddersfield at 10.00 am on Wednesday 10 September 2025. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Samantha Lawton 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

The Cabinet Committee - Local Issues members are:- 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Councillor Nosheen Dad 
Councillor Tyler Hawkins 
Councillor Graham Turner 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  Pages 

 

1:   Membership of the Committee 
 
This is where councillors who are attending as substitutes will say for 
who they are attending. 
 

 
 

 

2:   Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 
To approve the Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet Committee – 
Local Issues held on 23rd July 2025 
 

 
 

1 - 2 

3:   Declaration of Interests 
 
Members will be asked to say if there are any items on the Agenda 
in which they have any disclosable pecuniary interests or any other 
interests, which may prevent them from participating in any 
discussion of the items or participating in any vote upon the items. 
 

 
 

3 - 4 

4:   Admission of the Public 
 
Most agenda items take place in public. This only changes where 
there is a need to consider exempt information, as contained at 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. You will be 
informed at this point which items are to be recommended for 
exclusion and to be resolved by the Committee. 
 

 
 

 

5:   Deputations/Petitions 
 
The Committee will receive any petitions and/or deputations from 
members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people can 
attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also submit a petition 
at the meeting relating to a matter on which the body has powers 
and responsibilities. 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10, Members of the 

 



 

 

Public must submit a deputation in writing, at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting and shall subsequently be 
notified if the deputation shall be heard. A maximum of four 
deputations shall be heard at any one meeting. 
 

 
 

6:   Public Question Time 
 
To receive any public questions. 
  
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11, the period for the 
asking and answering of public questions shall not exceed 15 
minutes. 
 
Any questions must be submitted in writing at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting. 
 

 
 

 

7:   Member Question Time 
 
To receive questions from Councillors.  
 

 
 

 

8:   TRO No 1 2025 Lockwood Road Huddersfield 
 
The Committee will consider the objections received for TRO No 1 
2025 Lockwood Road Huddersfield Proposed Banned Turning 
Movements, Lockwood Bar. 
 
Contact:  
 
Ayoob Akhtar, Principal Engineer  
Muhammad Qadri, Project Manager  
 
 

 
 

5 - 22 

 
 



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Jodie Harris   
 
  
 

 
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL  
 

CABINET COMMITTEE - LOCAL ISSUES 
 
 

WEDNESDAY 23RD JULY 2025 
 
Present: Councillor Graham Turner  
 Councillor Viv Kendrick  

 
Apologies:  
 
 
 
In attendance  

Councillor Nosheen Dad 
Councillor Tyler Hawkins   
 
  
Karen North, Principal Technical Officer  
Dean Barker, Principal Road Safety Engineer  
 
 

 
 

1 Membership of the Committee 
Apologies were received from Councillor Nosheen Dad and Councillor Tyler 
Hawkins. It was noted that Councillor Viv Kendrick was in attendance as a substitute 
for Councillor Nosheen Dad. 
 

2 Minutes of Previous Meeting 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 June 2026 be deferred to the next 
meeting of the Committee for approval.  
 

3 Declaration of Interests 
No interests were declared. 
 

4 Admission of the Public 
It was noted that all agenda items would be considered in public session. 
 

5 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received.  
 

6 Public Question Time 
No questions were asked. 
 

7 Member Question Time (Oral Questions) 
No questions were asked 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Cabinet Committee - Local Issues – 23rd July 2025  

2 
 

Objection Report – Proposed Traffic Calming Bradshaw Road, Honley 

 
The Committee considered objections received to the traffic calming proposed 
under Highways Act 1980 – Section 90 A-F – Bradshaw Road, Honley which was 
presented by Dean Barker, Principal Road Safety Engineer. 
  
It was noted that the scheme had been developed in response to resident concerns 
about excessive vehicle speeds, particularly downhill into the village, and proposed 
the installation of two speed humps and one set of three speed cushions over a 
200-metre stretch between Derwent Road and Bradshaw Avenue. The scheme was 
supported by Ward Councillors and aligned with the Council’s objectives to improve 
road safety and promote active travel. 
 
Over 360 residents were consulted via letter, and plans were made available in 
Honley Library. The original scheme, which had included seven features over a 600-
metre stretch, was revised and reduced in scope following feedback from residents 
and Councillors. The revised scheme focused on the area where speeding was 
most prevalent and was designed to reduce vehicle speeds as they entered the 
residential zone of the village. 
 
The proposals were formally advertised in accordance with the Highways (Road 
Hump) Regulations 1999 from 14 March to 11 April 2025. During this period, two 
formal objections were received during the advertisement period. Officers 
responded to objections with evidence from speed surveys and national guidance, 
concluding that the objections did not outweigh the benefits of the scheme.  
 
Having considered all the information to it verbally and in writing the committee 
noted that the evidence to support the introduction of the traffic calming scheme was 
overwhelming and it was agreed that; 
 
RESOLVED: That the objections to the proposed Traffic Calming Bradshaw Road, 
Honley be overruled and that the scheme be implemented as advertised.  
 
 

Page 2



K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

/C
A

B
IN

ET
/C

O
M

M
IT

TE
E 

M
EE

TI
N

G
S 

ET
C

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 
 

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
an

 
in

te
re

st
 

 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 

in
te

re
st

 re
qu

ire
 y

ou
 to

 
w

ith
dr

aw
 fr

om
 th

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

hi
le

 th
e 

ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 is

 u
nd

er
 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r 

in
te

re
st

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 Si
gn

ed
:  

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

   
   

   
D

at
ed

:  
  …

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
.. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



N
O

TE
S 

D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
.  

 A
ny

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
of

fic
e,

 tr
ad

e,
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n 
or

 v
oc

at
io

n 
ca

rr
ie

d 
on

 fo
r p

ro
fit

 o
r g

ai
n,

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, u

nd
er

ta
ke

s.
  

A
ny

 p
ay

m
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
.  

 A
ny

 c
on

tra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
-  

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
  

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
  

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t i

n 
la

nd
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
av

e 
an

d 
w

hi
ch

 is
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y.
  

 A
ny

 li
ce

nc
e 

(a
lo

ne
 o

r j
oi

nt
ly

 w
ith

 o
th

er
s)

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

ol
ds

 to
 o

cc
up

y 
la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 
au

th
or

ity
 fo

r a
 m

on
th

 o
r l

on
ge

r. 
 

 A
ny

 te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
 

(a
) t

ha
t b

od
y 

(to
 y

ou
r k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 h

as
 a

 p
la

ce
 o

f b
us

in
es

s 
or

 la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y;

 a
nd

  
(b

) e
ith

er
 - 

 
 

th
e 

to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 e

xc
ee

ds
 £

25
,0

00
 o

r o
ne

 h
un

dr
ed

th
 o

f t
he

 to
ta

l i
ss

ue
d 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t 

bo
dy

; o
r  

 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
.  

 

Page 4



1 
 

 
 

 
REPORT TITLE: To consider objections received for TRO No 1 2025 Lockwood Road 
Huddersfield Proposed Banned Turning Movements, Lockwood Bar 
  

Meeting:  
 

Cabinet Committee – Local Issues 

Date:  
 

15 August 2025 

Cabinet Member (if applicable) 
 

Cllr Tyler Hawkins 

Key Decision 
Eligible for Call In 
 

No 
Yes 
 

Purpose of Report: To consider objections received to the proposed Traffic Regulation 
Order TRO No 1 2025 Lockwood Road Huddersfield which includes banning turning 
movements between Lockwood Road and Bridge Street, except for buses and cycles. 
This is a part of the Huddersfield Southern Corridor Projects. 
 

Recommendations  

 that the benefits of the scheme are assessed as outweighing the formal objections, 
and as such that the banned turning movements proposed be approved and 
implemented. 

 that no further consultation or engagement with the HCA is warranted 

 that no public inquiry into the objections should be organised. 
Reasons for Recommendations 

 the proposed Traffic Regulation Order is critical to the successful delivery of the 
Lockwood Bar junction improvement scheme, which forms a key part of the wider 
Huddersfield Southern Corridor project. Allowing vehicles other than buses and 
cycles to use the proposed junctions would reduce the effectiveness of the scheme 
which is aimed at reducing congestion and improving journey times. 

 if the banned movements were removed, there would be added costs to redesign 
the scheme, and the congestion benefits would be lost for this junction. 

 in order to provide an exemption for hackney carriages, a new Traffic Regulation 
Order would need to be progressed at an additional cost to the Council which may 
not be successful, would slow down the implementation of the proposals and 
reduce the scheme’s effectiveness. 
 

Resource Implications:  
 
The £13,617,159 Huddersfield Southern Corridor project is being funded by West 
Yorkshire Transport Fund as capital spend and is in the Council’s Capital Plan. As the 2-
year validity window for installation had expired due to other pressures, the original 
proposals were re-advertised between 5 March 2025 to 2 April 2025 with no changes to 
the legal order or design proposals.  
If, as above, we were to have to remove the banned turning movements, then there would 
be additional costs to redesign the scheme and as all vehicles would then be able to use 
all of the junctions, the congestion benefits and the opportunity to improve bus services 
and journey times in this local area would be lost.  
 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

If hackney carriages were permitted to use the bus and cycle route, there would also be 
an additional cost of the processing of another Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) and site 
delays at a cost of approximately £770,000.00 which would have to be borne by the 
Council which may still receive objections and/or not be successful. This figure is derived 
from 6 months of delay costs to the contractor currently on site, whilst a revised TRO is 
advertised, which would be less costly than descoping part of the site works, and 
retendering them to undertake the kerb, signage, surfacing, and drainage work associated 
with installing a revised TRO. 
 

Date signed off by Executive Director & 
name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Legal Governance and 
Commissioning (Monitoring Officer)? 
 

David Shepherd : 18/08/2025 
 
 
Kevin Mulvaney : 18/08/2025 
 
 
Samantha Lawton : 17/07/2025 
 

 
Electoral wards affected: Crosland Moor and Netherton/Newsome 
 

Ward councillors consulted:   

 Newsome Ward councillors - Cllr Andrew Cooper; Cllr Susan Lee-Richards; Cllr 

Karen Allison 

 Crosland Moor and Netherton Ward councillors - Cllr Alex Vickers; Cllr Imran 

Safdar; Cllr Jo Lawson 

Public or private: Public 

Has GDPR been considered? Yes 

1. Executive Summary  

 The Lockwood Bar element of the Huddersfield Southern Corridors 

transportation scheme is currently on site. The link road has been completed 

and is not currently in use. 

 The £13,617,159 project has been funded from capital, from the West Yorkshire 

Transport fund via the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) and is in 

the Capital Plan.  

 The Lockwood scheme will improve journey times between the south of Kirklees 

and Huddersfield Town Centre along the A616 corridor. The scheme will also 

provide active travel facilities to support a longer-term vision of a more cycle-

friendly Kirklees. 

 Several months after awarding the construction contract and before any 

changes to the junction could be constructed, the previously advertised traffic 

regulation orders TROs expired.  

Page 6



3 
 

 The original TROs were re-advertised at the start of 2025, with no changes 

since they were first advertised in 2022 and no objections received at that time.  

2. Information required to take a decision 

2.1 Scheme and TRO Background 

 The Huddersfield Southern Corridor project sought to deliver corridor 

improvements in four locations: A62 Queensgate, A616 Folly Hall, Longroyd 

Lane at A62 Manchester Road, A616 Lockwood Road. 

 Folly Hall was constructed in 2023, there is currently a construction contract in 

operation to construct Lockwood Bar and Longroyd Lane. 

 The Lockwood Bar scheme involves constructing a new link road from 

Lockwood Road to Bridge Street, to separate the traffic stream from traffic 

heading down Lockwood Road towards Meltham. 

 The Scheme involves three TRO’s, one of which is to ban direct turning 

movements between Lockwood Road and Bridge Street except for exemptions 

to buses and cycles, and for which four objections have been received.  

 The scheme is designed to improve journey times along the Southern corridor 

and the design and subsequent advertising of traffic regulation orders are there 

to support the journey time improvements, for all vehicles. 

 The proposed banned turning movements for other road users are to be 

replaced by using the new link road, however, to avoid having to move bus 

routes/stops on Lockwood Road buses will be exempt from this TRO.  

 The new traffic regulation orders for the whole scheme were advertised 

between the 5 March and 2 April 2025 and 4 objections were received. 

2.2 TRO Objections 

All four objections were made by Hackney Carriage Association (HCA) members, and 

their full objections can be found in Appendix 2. 

The objections cover 5 key areas and can be summarised as follows along with the 

officer response: 

Objection 1 – The consultation was inadequate. 

 In response to invitations for views in 2020 by the previous project manager, HCA 

members sent in correspondence but say that no reply was received. Some also reached 

out to Councillor Amanda Pinnock as the Chair of Licensing Committee at the time and no 

response was received. 

 They have a grievance as they were not notified about the scheme, with HCA members 

stating they only learned of it recently in the Examiner paper. 

Page 7



4 
 

In response 

These proposals were advertised in the local press, on-street notices and on the Council’s, 

website as is the legal requirement.  

This is a procedural objection only that has no bearing on the merits of the proposal, although 

it may have other consequences. However, subsequent to receiving the objection the HCA 

has been contacted; please see Section 4 consultation details. 

Objection 2 – The proposed traffic regulation order conflicts with Regional Transport 

Strategies. 

 Objectors claim that Kirklees are the only WYCA authority to not allow Hackney Carriages 

to use bus lanes. All other authorities allow Hackney Carriages to access the bus lanes 

providing fairer access for both drivers and passengers. 

 Objectors claim that WYCA has committed to Hackney Carriages forming part of all future 

transport plans. 

In response 

Kirklees currently does not permit hackney carriages (HC) into all bus lanes in the district as 

the default position. 

The scheme does not propose to introduce a bus lane, rather it is proposing to ban a number 

of turns, at the junctions within the scheme, for all vehicles, allowing a specific exemption for 

buses and cycles at two of those turns. The only lane that is proposed to become a bus and 

cycle lane only is a 18m long right-turning pocket on Bridge Street approaching the traffic 

signals which can store a single 13m long bus at a time and this is not formally designated as 

a bus lane. This is on the approach to the stop line from which the right turn ban applies 

except for buses and cycles which are exempted. 

Objection 3 – The proposed TRO will have a negative impact on local residents 

 Objectors claiming that passengers will have to wait longer in traffic and that their fares 

will increase. 

In response 

Upon completion of the scheme construction all vehicles will be banned from turning directly 

between Lockwood Road and Bridge Street and vice versa, except for cycles and buses. 

However, the new Albert Street link road will be open to all traffic and replace the turning 

movements previously undertaken at the Lockwood Road/ Bridge Street junction. 

Therefore, there will be no meaningful difference to journey times and fares before and after 

the scheme. Any Hackney Carriages wanting to travel to Woodhead Road would need to turn 

off onto the new Albert Street link before rejoining Bridge Street at the end of Albert Street. 

While any Hackney Carriages approaching the junction from Woodhead Road wishing to 

travel towards Huddersfield town centre will need to turn right on to Albert Street and join 

Lockwood Road 180 metres northeast of the junction. 

Page 8



5 
 

There will be a minor inconvenience to passengers hailing taxis from a 50-meter strip on 

Bridge Street between the Albert Street junction and Lockwood Road, if they wish to travel to 

the town centre, as 5 -10 minutes might be added in peak times by using Swan Lane and 

Victoria Street rather than Lockwood Road directly. 

Objection 4 – Including Hackney Carriages in the exemption for the turn bans would have 

no impact on the overall scheme. 

 Claims that the total number of 224 Hackney Carriages vehicles licenced across the whole 

of Kirklees will have very limited impact on the junction functioning. 

In response 

Journeys through the scheme are expected to be unaffected or improved for Hackney 

Carriages, and private vehicles. 

The scheme was initially designed not to accommodate any turning movements at all directly 

between Lockwood Road and Bridge Street. A small exception was required for buses to 

avoid having to relocate 2 important bus stops on Lockwood Road. 

The scheme was not designed to emphasise bus priority, and bus lanes are being removed 

as part of the scheme. The concessions given to bus exemptions are to avoid re-siting bus 

stops and alterations to bus routes. 

The Hackney Carriage numbers by themselves may be low enough to avoid blocking Bridge 

Street, with only a negligible loss of performance for the junction. However, there is a concern 

that exempting Hackney Carriages from the ban could result in abuse of the ban by potentially 

hundreds of licenced private hire vehicles. 

For comparison, there are 224 registered Hackney Carriages in Kirklees, and 2,350 licensed 

private hire vehicles. There is also potential for this to encourage abuse by private vehicles. 

Unfortunately, the Council does not have legal powers of enforcement of turning bans on the 

Highway Network, and such abuse by non-exempt vehicles would result in increased 

congestion and potential road traffic accidents due to backed up queues through the Bridge 

Street / Lockwood Road junction. 

Objection 5 – By not allowing Hackney Carriages to be exempt we are breaching legislation. 

 Claims that the proposed TRO would be a breach of the Equality Act 2010 as Hackney 

Carriage vehicles are classed as Public Transport within Licensing legislation. 

In response 

Objectors allege that Hackney Carriages are legally classed as public transport, and as such 

exempting buses from the Traffic Regulation Order, and not Hackney Carriages, amounts to 

a breach of legislation and/or discrimination under the Equality Act 2010. 

Hackney Carriages are not a protected class under the Equality Act 2010. 

Page 9



6 
 

Officers in Licensing have referred designers and project managers to two pieces of 

government guidance: 

o Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards 2010. 

o Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guidance for Licensing 

Authorities in England (updated 2023). 

The 2010 statutory standards do not comment on Hackney Carriage use of the public 

highway. They refer to vetting procedures of drivers to safeguard passengers.  

The licensing best practice guidance separates between Hackney Carriages as public 

transport in some parts of the document but also states that taxis are a ‘public transport 

service’ in other parts of the document. 

The licensing best practice guidance further states that the Transport Act 2000 requires local 

transport authorities to produce Local Transport Plans (LTPs) which consider the role of 

Hackney Carriages – although the focus in those plans is on pick up and drop off facilities, 

rather use of bus lanes. 

The current Kirklees Council Local Plan (2019) references Kirklees’ Transport Strategy. The 

latest Kirklees Transport Strategy has been in draft since March 2025 and mentions that 

Hackney Carraige vehicles fill an important gap between private and public transport. It further 

mentions aspirations to work with stakeholders to improve pick-up and drop-off areas. 

Therefore, the proposed Traffic Regulation Order does not breach legislation, or other 

guidance and frameworks (Kirklees’ Local Plan and Kirklees’ Transport Strategy). 

2.3 General consideration of objections 

There will be an opportunity for objectors to address the Committee and air their views in a 

public forum, so Officers do not recommend that the objections need to be further tested 

through a public inquiry.  However, Members must consider that option and determine 

accordingly. 

3. Implications for the Council 

3.1 Council Plan 

This scheme has been developed in line with the Council’s ambition to:  

 Align with the Council’s eight shared outcomes including “Sustainable Economy” 

as it seeks to improve journey times which will unlock growth and development and 

deliver public realm improvements and Active Travel Enhancements in Lockwood 

which could attract more customers to the local businesses.  

 Align with the Council’s four partnership strategies scheme:  

o The Environment Strategy to encourage active travel and green 

infrastructure. 

Page 10



7 
 

o The Health and Wellbeing Strategy for the same reasons as above. 

3.2 Financial Implications   

 The scheme relies heavily on the proposed Traffic Regulation Orders to deliver the 

Council Plan’s aligned benefits. In part, this is because any delays will increase the 

Councils costs which will impact delivery of the rest of the scheme.  

 If it is deemed that the objections are valid and the scheme should be readvertised 

to include hackney carriages. The potential for abuse by non-exempt private hire 

vehicles would require unbudgeted redesign to avoid introducing road traffic 

accidents due to non-exempt vehicles queueing through the Bridge Street / 

Lockwood Road junction, which is has not been designed to accommodate them. 

redesign and site delay costs would not be less than £770,000.  

3.3 Legal Implications 

 If the objections are upheld and Members decide to exclude Hackney Carriages 

from the proposed restrictions the TRO will need to be re-advertised to allow taxis 

to be included in the exemption to the turning movement bans.  

 This scheme has been consulted on and advertised, as legally required by:  

o The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984   

o The Local Authorities Traffic Orders (Procedure)(England and Wales) 

Regulations 1996 (1996 Regulations)   

 Under Sec 122 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 the Council has to have 

regard to  

a) the desirability of securing and maintaining reasonable access to 

premises.  

b) the effect on the amenities of any locality affected and (without prejudice 

to the generality of this paragraph) the importance of regulating and 

restricting the use of roads by heavy commercial vehicles, so as to 

preserve or improve the amenities of the areas through which the roads 

run.  

bb) the strategy prepared under section 80 of the Environment Act 1995 

(national air quality strategy).  

c) the importance of facilitating the passage of public service vehicles and of 

securing the safety and convenience of persons using or desiring to use 

such vehicles; and  

d) any other matters appearing to the local authority to be relevant  

Page 11



8 
 

The report clearly concentrates on c) above, but so far as they are relevant to 

the proposals the other factors have been considered.  Objections relating to 

access and effect on amenities are considered and evaluated in detail in the 

report with appropriate detailed recommendations being set out. 

In addition, this TRO is part of a larger scheme aimed at ensuring the free and 

safe passage of all road users to achieve the above objectives.  Without the 

TRO in place, some operational elements of this scheme cannot be lawfully 

introduced or enforced, which would restrict achieving the initial aims and 

ambitions of the scheme, on which the funding has been secured on. 

 The Traffic Regulation Orders have been progressed in accordance with the 

statutory requirements of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and the 1996 

Regulations. Formal consultation has been undertaken, and objections have 

been duly considered as part of this report.  

 Under Regulation 9(1) of the 1996 Regulations, the Council must consider 

whether to hold a public inquiry before approving and making the order objected 

to. As none of the objections were made on the grounds of restrictions to loading 

and unloading, there is no obligation to hold a public inquiry (Reg 9(3) of the 

1996 Regulations) but it is still for the Council to exercise its discretion in this 

respect. all of which, where relevant, are considered in the report above and 

below.  

3.4 Climate Change and Air Quality 

Under Sec 122 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 the Council has to have regard 

to, amongst other things 

 the strategy prepared under section 80 of the Environment Act 1995 (national air 

quality strategy);  

 Kirklees Air Quality Strategy and Action Plan 2019 commits to improvements to 

congested junctions and supporting / encouraging active travel and modal shift on 

journeys to school. 

The proposed TROs support the Council’s commitments to addressing the climate 

emergency by enabling a shift towards more sustainable modes of transport. The 

introduction of banned turns with the exception of buses and cycles is expected to 

reduce private vehicle dependency, improve journey time reliability for public transport, 

and encourage active travel. 

By prioritising low-emission travel options, the scheme contributes to improved local 

air quality and reduced carbon emissions along the A616. These measures form part 

of the wider strategy to promote clean growth and support Kirklees Council’s 

environmental objectives. 

It is expected that the journey time improvements along the A616 combined with the 

Folly Hall scheme already delivered will result in less congestion and is expected this 

Page 12



9 
 

will result in air quality improvements at Lockwood bar with reductions in NOx and PM10 

concentrations. 

These climate improvements rely heavily on the proposed Traffic Regulation Orders.  

3.5  Other (e.g. Risk, Integrated Impact Assessment or Human Resources)  

 None other than that set out above under ‘Legal Implications’ 

4. Consultation  

4.1 The substance of the currently proposed TRO were first advertised in the local press 

from 5 April 2023 to 3 May 2023 and at that time, no comments or objections were 

received.  As the 2-year validity window for installation had expired due to other 

pressures, the original proposals were re-advertised between 5 March 2025 to 2 April 

2025 with no changes to the legal order or design proposals.  

4.2 The overall scheme was subject to a number of consultation events including early 

engagement letters to local residents in 2018, website consultation in 2019, a 

consultation drop in session at the church on Lockwood Road in 2019 and 

consideration of a response from the Hackney Carriage Association in 2020 about the 

non-consideration of Hackney Carriages using bus lanes during its concept and design 

stages resulting in the approved detail design supported by West Yorkshire Combined 

Authority.  

4.3 Consultation and public engagement also included the relevant Ward Councillors and 

statutory consultees, and no concerns were raised. 

4.4 As a result of considering Objection 1, Officers met with representatives of the HCA  

on the 31st of July 2025. 

Four representatives of the HCA attended the meeting, along with three council officers 

in attendance. The discussions highlighted the HCA frustration of not being properly 

consulted on the scheme and also their general objections not to allow Hackney 

Carriage taxis to use bus lanes throughout the district. 

Arguments raised by the HCA were related to the TRO regarding the Bus and Cycle 

left turn from Lockwood Road to Bridge Street and Bridge Street to Lockwood Road. It 

was explained that the new link road that is currently being constructed would split 

traffic flows and ease travel time for those travelling from Huddersfield City Centre to 

Holmfirth. It was also pointed out to the HCA, that the current bus lane will be removed 

from the final layout allowing two lane traffic flow for all vehicles. 

The HCA are concerned that they are not being listened to and have asked for a whole 

review as to why Kirklees Council are the only district to not allow taxis to use bus 

lanes/routes as they are also classed as public transport and governed by the Kirklees 

Council. 

Page 13



10 
 

The HCA were told that due to the extent of the works on site and everything being 

passed at planning stage that their objections to the TRO’s would now need to be 

discussed and resolved at the CCLI, and that they now need to put their arguments 

forward at that meeting.  

5. Engagement 

The overall scheme was subject to a number of public engagement events during its 

concept and design stages over the past 7 years as detailed in point 4.1. 

Public engagement events included all relevant Ward Cllrs. 

6. Options   

6.1 Options considered  

 Option 1: Deem the objections do not outweigh the proposed benefits and 

construct and implement the scheme, as advertised 

 Option 2: Deem the objections to the proposed banned turns solely for buses 

and cycles do outweigh the benefits and abandon this element of the scheme. 

 Option 3: Deem the objections to the proposed banned turns solely for buses 

and cycles do outweigh the benefits and readvertise the proposals to include 

an exemption for hackney carriages too.  

6.2 Reasons for recommended option   

 The officer recommendation is to procced with option 1 on the basis that we are 

not providing any bus lanes in this traffic regulation order and are only creating 

a number of turning bans for all vehicles for which two of them will have 

exemptions for buses and cycles. 

 None of these turning bans will cause HCAs to go on longer, slower, journeys 

as a result there should be no impact on costs to their customers. 

 To avoid any delays to the installation of the scheme which would result in 

additional costs to the Council. 

 To ensure the benefits of the scheme are met. 

Councillor Hawkins (Portfolio Holder – Environment and Highways) fully supports 
officer recommendation. 

7. Next steps and timelines 

If the recommended options are approved and the benefits of the scheme, as 

advertised, are determined to outweigh the objections, and the objections put aside, a 

timeline will be developed to complete works, in conjunction with the contractor 

engaged to construct the engineering elements of the overall scheme. 

Page 14



11 
 

If CCLI members deem that the objections are not determined to outweigh the 

anticipated benefits of the TRO proposals, then the engineering elements of the 

scheme, that do not rely on the implementation of said restrictions for their safe and 

effective operations will go ahead, we would need to redesign the junction to allow use 

by all vehicles at additional cost to the council and a loss of anticipated benefits from 

the scheme.  

8. Contact officer 

 Ayoob Akhtar (highways lead for the scheme) 

 Muhammad Qadri (project manager for the scheme) 

9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 

 Cabinet meeting details on 13 November 2018 progress on scheme 

development was noted. 

Decision - West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund Scheme Update | Kirklees 

Council 

 Cabinet meeting details on 10 September 2024 at which authority was 

delegated to the Service Director for Skills and Regeneration to award the 

contract to construct Lockwood Bar. 

Decision - Kirklees Major Transport Capital Schemes; Annual Report 2024 | 

Kirklees Council 

10. Appendices 

 Appendix 1- TRO Plan 

 Appendix 2- Full Objections (redacted) 

11. Service Director responsible  

Tony Galloway.  

Page 15

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=6679
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=6679
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=12206
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=12206


This page is intentionally left blank



 

P
age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Objection 1 

My name is ### and I am a trade rep for Hackney Carriage Association in Kirklees. 

When the first consultation was carried out regarding lockwood bar several 
objections were put in regarding the works primarily to allow hackney carriage where 
buses were allowed. This issue has been an ongoing one for many years and still is. 
However, no response was received and there seemed to be silence once the 
previous consultation was done only for this to rear its head now and got me by 
suprise. I appreciate the chance to get myself heard again and hope we can work 
together for the betterment of the community. 

Hackney carriage (taxis) play a very important role in Kirklees transporting members 
of the public of various ages and needs. This has to be done in the safest and most 
cheapest way possible. As hackney carriage drivers we are representing kirklees 
council, there are only 224 licensed vehicles which will not cause an issue in 
lockwood as there is no way they would all be using that road at the same time. 
Furthermore, WYCA encourages hackney carriages to use bus lanes hence all other 
areas in the WYCA are allowed to use bus lanes, which is not the case here which 
simply baffles me. Allowing the use of bus lanes would also help the community for 
us to provide the most efficient service for all residents. 

We are not asking for you to change any aspects of the design of this section just to 
allow hackney carriage vehicles access into bus lanes and routes in this new 
section. 

Objection 2 

I am writing to formally object to the proposed works on Lockwood Road and to 
request that Hackney Carriage Taxis be permitted to utilize the roads designated as 
bus-only routes. As a representative of the Hackney Carriage trade in Kirklees, I 
believe this matter is of significant importance to both the trade and the wider 
community we serve. 

When the plans were initially introduced by Kirklees Licensing, we submitted a 
request for Hackney Carriage Taxis to be granted access to roads restricted to 
buses. In 2020, I received an email from Adrian Bateman, the project manager, 
outlining the project in detail and offering further discussions if required. I responded 
to this email, but unfortunately, I did not receive a reply. Additionally, I reached out to 
Councillor Amanda Pinnock, who was the Chair of the Licensing Committee at the 
time. 

Since then, Kirklees Hackney Carriage trade representatives have received no 
further communication regarding the project. We were also unaware of any 
consultation process taking place. The first notification of the works commencing 
came through a report in the Examiner newspaper. Despite our regular trade 
meetings with Kirklees Licensing, held every three months, they too were unaware of 
any formal consultation. In our discussions during 2020/21, we were advised that no 
plans or consultations had been initiated. 

Page 19



Our request is straightforward: we seek permission for Hackney Carriage Taxis to 
use the bus-only roads, without requesting any changes to the existing plans or 
designs. 

The primary reasons for this request are as follows: 

• Council Affiliation – Hackney Carriage Taxis in Kirklees are licensed and regulated 
by Kirklees Council. Our fares are also determined by the Council, reinforcing our 
role as an integral part of the local transport system. 

• Fair Pricing for Passengers – If Hackney Carriage Taxis are not permitted to use 
these roads, journey times will increase, leading to higher fares for passengers. As 
our fares are set by Kirklees Council, this would result in an unintended financial 
burden on residents. 

• Service Efficiency and Sustainability – The number of licensed Hackney Carriage 
Taxis in Kirklees has remained at 244 for several years, with no indication of an 
increase in the near future. In fact, the industry has seen a decline over the past 4–5 
years. Allowing access to bus lanes would help improve service efficiency and 
maintain affordability for the public. 

• Inconsistency with Other Authorities – Kirklees Council is the only local authority 
within the West Yorkshire Combined Authority that does not permit Hackney 
Carriage Taxis to use bus lanes. All other councils in the region allow their Hackney 
Carriages to utilize these routes, providing fairer access for both drivers and 
passengers, West Yorkshire combined authority also encourages Hackney carriage 
Taxis to use bus lanes.  

Hackney Carriage Taxis are a vital part of Kirklees Council’s transport network, and 
we take great pride in providing a high standard of service. We kindly urge you to 
reconsider our request and grant us access to these roads, ensuring fairer and more 
efficient transport for our community. 

Should you require any further information, we would be happy to provide additional 
details or attend meetings to discuss this matter in person. 

Objection 3 

I am writing to formally object to proposed works on Lockwood Road. 
 
We are not requesting you change any design plans all we are requesting is that 
Hackney Carriage vehicles be allowed to use the bus lane.  WYCA allow and 
encourages HCV to use bus lanes in all other Authorities except Kirklees which is 
quite baffling to be honest.  
 
There are 224 licenced HCV in Kirklees, the plates are owned by the council and 
fares are set by the council for transporting members of the public around for a 
cheap and efficient service.  

Page 20



This will not be possible if we can not access the bus lanes as when stuck in traffic 
the meter continues to tick over, making journeys more expensive when customers 
are already experiencing a cost of living crisis.  
 
This small amount (224) HCV will have little impact on the bus lane as it would be 1 
or 2 HCV at any one time. 
 
As a Hackney Carriage representative for Kirklees, I believe this matter is of 
significant importance to both the trade and the community we serve.   
When plans were first introduced by Kirklees licencing at one of our 3 monthly 
meetings we submitted a request for HCV to be granted access to the bus lanes, 
back in 2020 discussions were had with the project manager at the time but things 
went quite until this week where we read in the local paper of works planned and 
communications from licencing as were totally unaware of any progress.  
 
I urge you to consider all points in this email. 

Objection 4 

I am writing to formally object to the proposals on Lockwood Road and to request 
that access to Hackney Carriage Taxis be permitted to this road and all other 
designated bus-only routes within Kirklees.  

As the Secretary for GMB West Yorkshire Professional Drivers branch that also 
represents Hackney Carriage drivers in Kirklees, I believe this matter is vitally 
important to both the Hackney Carriage Taxi trade and the general public, especially 
the elderly and disabled community. 

As a regular attendee to the Kirklees Hackney Carriage trade forum meetings for 
several years with the Kirklees Licensing Officers I have not received any 
communication regarding this project prior to today. Me and many other Trade 
Representatives were unaware of any consultation process having taken place. 

The objection is not with the layout of the planned works but with the TRO, we seek 
permission for Hackney Carriage Taxis to be allowed to use this and all other the 
bus-only roads. 

The reasons for this request are as follows: 

* Hackney Carriage Taxis in Kirklees are licensed and regulated by Kirklees Council. 
The fares are also regulated and controlled by Kirklees Council. 

* Hackney Carriage Taxis are legally classed as “Public Transport” within the 
Licensing legislation and should be given the same level of access to all routes 
designated for “Public Transport” 

* By denying the Hackney Carriage Taxis access to the bus lanes the Council is in 
breach of the Equality Act 2010 - As it is allowing other road surface using public 
transport access to pick-up and drop off passengers in the bus lanes but not 
Hackney Carriage Taxis which are also legally defined as “Public Transport” 

Page 21



* As all Hackney Carriage Taxi meters calculate the fare by time and distance any 
delays caused by waiting in traffic ques impact greatly on the fare payable by Taxi 
customers – This places the Hackney Carriage drivers at a great disadvantage in 
comparison to our competitors Private Hire Operators who only charge by the 
distance travelled.  

* The Hackney Carriage industry locally and nationally has seen a decline both in 
business and the number of drivers/Vehicles since Covid and the changes in the 
working patterns that have happened since Covid. Allowing access to bus lanes 
would help improve service efficiency and maintain affordability for the public. 

* All other WYCA affiliated Councils allow Hackney Carriage Taxis to use bus lanes 
and bus gates. Kirklees Council is the only local authority within the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority that does not permit Hackney Carriage Taxis to use bus lanes.  

* Hackney Carriage Taxis are a vital part of Kirklees Council’s Public transport 
network and this needs to be recognised not just by words but in actions too. The 
Hackney Carriage Taxis unique business model allows immediate hire whenever a 
customer requires a Taxi and this needs to be protected and given all the necessary 
support and facilities to continue providing that service. 

GMB along with other Hackney Carriage trade members regionally have recently 
been given a commitment by Peter Carlisle from WYCA that Hackney Carriage Taxis 
will form part of all future transport plans and I hope Kirklees Council as members of 
WYCA will support and abide by that commitment and provide access to Hackney 
Carriage Taxis within Kirklees to this new bus lane as well as all existing bus lanes. 

GMB would be happy to attend any future meetings to discuss this matter or answer 
any questions you may have. 

Page 22


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	3 Declaration of Interests
	8 TRO No 1 2025 Lockwood Road Huddersfield
	Appendix 1 TRO Plan
	Appendix 2 - Objections


